RECEIVED

Oct 20 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Judge Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000615
Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-07-01978

Broad Creek Development, LLCAppellant,

v.

Beaufort County.....Respondent.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Richard D. Bybee (S.C. Bar No. 1063)
rdb@bybeetibbals.com
Jeffrey S. Tibbals (S.C. Bar No. 72628)
jst@bybeetibbals.com
BYBEE & TIBBALS, LLC
880 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 2 (29464)
Post Office Box 1542
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29465
843.881.1623

*Attorneys for Appellant Broad Creek
Development, LLC*

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether Beaufort County has the power to condemn private property without following the “exclusive procedures” mandated by The South Carolina Eminent Domain Procedure Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 28-2-10 — 28-2-510 (“SCEDPA”).
2. Did the trial court err in considering evidence of Beaufort County’s post hoc planning, conducted after the filing of its Notice of Condemnation and Landowner’s Challenge Action, in determining the constitutionality of Beaufort County’s taking?
3. Did the trial court err in finding that Landowner did not meet its burden on challenge claims of (a) lack of need and necessity, (b) absence of public use, and (c) failure to consider relevant project factors, when Beaufort County failed to plan its project prior to filing its Notice of Condemnation?
4. Are stipulations of fact binding, and did the trial court err in ignoring them?
5. Must the trial court be reversed due to material factual findings in the final amended order that lack evidentiary support?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of the attempted condemnation by Beaufort County (the “County” or “Condemnor”) of two (2) unimproved parcels of land owned by Broad Creek Development, LLC (“Landowner”) located on Hilton Head Island. The two lots, identified with TMS numbers R552 010 000 0649 0000 and R552 010 000 0648 0000 (together, the “Property”), contain a combined total of approximately 4.98 acres. **Tr. Ex. 1.** The County filed a Notice of Condemnation (the “NOC”) on September 15, 2022 (the “Date of Condemnation”), and served the Notice of Condemnation on Landowner by certified mail on September 26, 2022 (the “Date of Service”), seeking to take the entirety of the Property. **Notice of Condemnation (“NOC”).** The NOC stated the County’s purpose for taking the Property was “to establish a permanent embarkation location

and public parking on the mainland in order to provide public ferry services to and from Daufuskie Island” (the “Project”). **Tr. Ex. 1.** The NOC also stated: “There are no project plans at this time and but [*sic*] they will be made available in the [*sic*] as soon as available.” **Tr. Ex. 1.** The filed NOC was accompanied by an Affidavit of Christopher L. Murphy, which, as the County admits, contains a false statement of fact, namely, “That the amount tendered by the Condemnor to the Landowner in the Condemnation Notice has been rejected.” **Murphy Aff. at 1.** In fact, in violation of the clear requirements of Sections 28-2-220 and 28-2-230 of the SCEDPA, prior to filing the NOC, the County had not tendered—and thus Landowner had not rejected—the amount of just compensation set forth in the NOC. **Stipulation of Fact (“S.O.F.”) No. 24.** The County made no effort, at any point, to correct the materially false Affidavit.

The County did not serve the NOC on the Landowner until September 26, 2022. On October 12, 2022, Landowner timely filed a challenge action pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-470, contesting the right of the County to condemn the Property on several statutory and constitutional grounds (the “Challenge Action”). **Complaint.** The Challenge Action alleged the County not only ignored the statutory condemnation process set forth in the SCEDPA, but also violated fundamental Constitutional principles controlling the rights of a government entity to take private property for a public use in South Carolina. Discovery in the case revealed that the County, under pressure due to related litigation, rushed to obtain possession of the land, without complying with the process mandated by law.¹ Therefore, the taking occurred prior to the development of Project plans.

¹ The SCEDPA provides for a “quick take” process, *i.e.*, the condemnor may enter, take possession, and commence project work, after serving a notice of condemnation and allowing for a period of 30 days for a landowner to challenge the right to condemn under S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-470. However, the SCEDPA also contains mandatory “exclusive procedures” that the County, in its haste, manifestly ignored.

After the completion of discovery, the Beaufort County Circuit Court, Judge Carmen T. Mullen presiding, held a non-jury trial on October 14, 2024. **February 18, 2025 Order (“Order”)**. On February 18, 2025, the trial court issued an Order in favor of the County, denying all of Landowner’s claims. **Order**. Landowner timely filed a Motion to Reconsider the Order on February 28, 2025 (**Motion to Reconsider**), and the trial court issued an Amended Order on March 7, 2025 (the “Amended Order”), making “minor changes” to the February 18 Order. **March 7, 2025 Amended Order (“Amended Order”) at 1.**

Notably, the Amended Order found that “the County’s procedure did not strictly adhere” to the exclusive procedures of the SCEDPA (**Amended Order at 17**), but concluded that Landowner “has proven no harm resulting from the County’s deviation” from the statutory process. **Amended Order at 17**. The Amended Order further stated that “it would be an extreme remedy for this court to find in favor of the Landowner in this Challenge action and dismiss the Condemnation action for anything less than strict adherence to the procedures unless the statutory law or case law requires it.” **Amended Order at 17**. The trial court also justified the County’s failure to create and make project plans available for inspection, as required by statute, by explaining that the County’s plans changed *after* the filing of the NOC. **Amended Order at 14.**

Landowner timely served its Notice of Appeal on March 28, 2025. **Proof of Service.**

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Our courts apply a preponderance of the evidence standard to challenge actions. *Ga. Dep’t of Transp. v. Jasper Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 631, 636 n.3, 586 S.E.2d 853, 855 n.3 (2003) (“An action challenging a condemnation under § 28-2-470 is considered one in equity because it essentially seeks to enjoin the condemnation. Accordingly, on review we take our own view of the preponderance of the evidence.”) (citing *S. Dev. Land and Golf Co. Ltd. v. S.C. Public Serv. Auth.*,

305 S.C. 507, 409 S.E.2d. 428 (Ct. App 1991) (“*S. Dev. Land*”), *aff’d in part, rev’d in part on other grounds*, 311 S.C. 29, 426 S.E.2d 748 (1993)). *S. Dev. Land* in fact was an injunction action, as opposed to this case, which is purely an action filed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-470 to challenge the County’s right to condemn.

Moreover, the SCEDPA does not call for a higher burden of proof in challenge actions. Absent such a mandate from the legislature, our courts cannot apply a heightened standard in challenge actions. *Rorrer v. P.J. Club, Inc.*, 347 S.C. 560, 569, 556 S.E.2d 726, 731 (Ct. App. 2001) (“it would be equally improvident to judicially engraft extra requirements to legislation which is clear on its face[]”) (internal citation omitted).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The history of this case begins with a natural disaster and ends with a bureaucratic one. On October 8, 2016, Hurricane Matthew destroyed Palmetto Bay Marina, on Hilton Head Island, where Daufuskie Island Ferry Service (“DIFS”), pursuant to a contract with the County, operated a ferry service. **S.O.F. No. 1.** The ferry transported passengers between Hilton Head and Melrose Landing, on Daufuskie Island, for a fee. **S.O.F. No. 1.**

In early 2017, the embarkation site was relocated to Buckingham Landing in Bluffton, where it remained as of the Date of Condemnation in this case. **S.O.F. No. 3.** On June 11, 2021, James Ware, together with a number of other residents of the historic Buckingham Landing neighborhood, filed a Complaint against the County in a case captioned *Ware, et al. v. Beaufort County, et al.*, Case Number 2021-CP-07-01078, in the Beaufort County Circuit Court (the “Ware Case”). **S.O.F. No. 4; Tr. Ex. 8.** The Complaint in the Ware Case also named HPCCA Ferry Company (“HPCCAFC”) and DIFS as defendants, and sought, *inter alia*, to prohibit the continued use of the Buckingham Landing dock for ferry services operated by DIFS and HPCCAFC, under

contract with the County. **S.O.F. No. 5; Tr. Ex. 8.** Although a separate action, the County's response to the Ware Case had a deleterious impact on Landowner and must be considered as part of the instant matter.

Soon after the Ware Case was filed, on June 17, 2021, the then-County Administrator Eric Greenway ("Greenway") identified the Property as a potential replacement site for Buckingham Landing. **S.O.F. No. 6; Tr. Ex. 9.** The County engaged two appraisers, Tony Martin ("Martin") on July 1, 2021, and George Owen ("Owen") on August 5, 2021, to provide valuation opinions of the subject property. **S.O.F. No. 7; Tr. Exs. 38 and 39.** Mr. Owen issued an appraisal report on August 12, 2021, estimating the value of the Property to be \$3,900,000 as of that date. **S.O.F. No. 8; Tr. Ex. 6.** Mr. Martin issued an appraisal report on August 20, 2021, estimating the value of the Property to be \$3,400,000 as of that date. **S.O.F. No. 9; Tr. Ex. 7.** However, the County made no effort in 2021 to contact Landowner, acquire the Property or authorize funds for a purchase.

Subsequently, in the Ware Case, the circuit court issued a Form Order on May 24, 2022 on Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment or Temporary Injunction, ruling as follows:

Ferry operations shall continue from now until Labor Day, which falls on September 5, 2022. If a new site has not been designated and approved by September 5, 2022, the Court will allow Plaintiff to seek a renewed injunction.

S.O.F. No. 10; Tr. Ex. 10.

On June 3, 2022, the County filed a Rule 59 motion seeking reconsideration of this order. **S.O.F. No. 11; Tr. Ex. 11.** The County then initiated its haphazard, rushed effort to meet the September 5 deadline, when Beaufort County Council held first reading of proposed County ordinance 2022/35 (the "Appropriation Ordinance") on June 27, 2022, to appropriate funding for the acquisition of the Property as a replacement embarkation site for Buckingham Landing. **S.O.F. No. 12; Tr. Ex. 19.** Two weeks later, on July 11, 2022, Council held second reading of the

proposed Appropriation Ordinance. On August 3, 2022, just one month before the court-imposed deadline allowing the Ware Case plaintiffs to renew their motion to enjoin Buckingham Landing ferry operations, a hearing was held on the County's motion to reconsider in the Ware Case. **S.O.F. Nos. 13-14.**

On August 24, 2022, the circuit court entered an Order Amending and Supplementing its May 24, 2022 Form Order in the Ware Case (the "Ware Amended Order"). In the Ware Amended Order, the circuit court memorialized the statements of counsel for the County at the August 3 hearing.

At the hearing, the attorney for the County, in response to questions from the Court, advised that the County had given the first and second of three required favorable readings to an ordinance authorizing the purchase or condemnation of a particular designated property on Hilton Head Island to replace Buckingham Landing as a location for the public ferry with Daufuskie Island. The attorney further advised that the third and final reading of that ordinance was scheduled for August 8, 2022. The Court is now informed that the ordinance received a favorable third reading at that meeting.

S.O.F. No. 15; Tr. Ex. 12. The pending ordinance the County's attorney referenced at the August 3 hearing, which received third reading by County Council on August 8, 2022, is the Appropriation Ordinance relating to the subject Property. **S.O.F. No. 16; Tr. Ex. 23.** Under pressure despite allowing a year to lapse after obtaining appraisals, Council considered and approved millions of dollars of taxpayer funds without formulating plans as to how the Property could be used for its intended purpose, or even feasibility, as a ferry embarkation site.

Just prior to initiating any legislative process to appropriate funds, on June 21, 2022, the County, via then County Deputy Attorney Brittany Ward ("Ward"), first contacted the Registered Agent for Landowner, Cantzon Foster, Esq. ("Foster"), regarding the Property. **S.O.F. No. 17.** Ward stated that the "County is interested in potentially purchasing these properties." **S.O.F. No.**

17. Foster instructed Anna Bouknight, his paralegal, to respond that the Landowner had no interest in selling. **S.O.F. No. 17; Tr. Ex. 3; Tr. Ex. 21**. On July 25, 2022, Ward again contacted Foster's office regarding the County's interest in purchasing the Property and asked to set an appointment for a telephone conference to discuss the issue. **S.O.F. No. 18; Tr. Ex. 3; Tr. Ex. 21**.

On August 2, 2022, Foster and Ward spoke by telephone regarding the County's interest in purchasing the Property. **S.O.F. No. 19; Tr. Ex. 3; Tr. Ex. 21**. Foster again informed her that the owner had no interest in selling. **S.O.F. No. 19; Tr. Ex. 3; Tr. Ex. 21**. On August 8, 2022, Ward emailed Foster stating the County "desires to obtain ownership of your two properties located on Helmsman Way on Hilton Head Island for the purpose of establishing a permanent embarkation location for public ferry services. The County would like to offer a purchase price of \$3,200,000 for both properties, contingent on County Council approval." **S.O.F. No. 20; Tr. Ex. 3; Tr. Ex. 22**. This offer was less than either of the 2021 appraisals the County had in hand and less than the amount the County had approved at first and second reading. In response, Foster asked Ms. Ward for additional time to consider the offer. **S.O.F. No. 20; Tr. Ex. 3; Tr. Ex. 22**. That same day, August 8, 2022, Beaufort County Council gave its third reading of the ordinance to appropriate funds in the amount of \$3,400,000, the same amount previously approved during first and second readings on June 27, 2022 and July 11, 2022, respectively, to "establish public ownership" of the Property. **S.O.F. No. 21; Tr. Ex. 23**. Prior to the trial of this case, the County and Landowner further stipulated to the following facts:

- At no time prior to the Date of Condemnation was Landowner contacted by either of the County's appraisers, Martin or Owen.² **S.O.F. No. 22; Tr. Ex. 3** at ¶10.
- At no time prior to the Date of Condemnation did Ward, or anyone else on behalf of

² The "Date of Condemnation" refers to the date on which the NOC was filed, September 15, 2022.

the County, disclose or offer to provide a copy of any appraisal of the Property. The County first produced a copy of the Martin Appraisal to counsel for Landowner on September 27, 2022 (twelve days after the Date of Condemnation). **S.O.F. No. 23; Tr. Ex. 3** at ¶11.

- At no time prior to the Date of Condemnation did Ward, or anyone else on behalf of the County offer more than \$3,200,000 for the Property, an amount below the opinions of value of both the County’s appraisers. **S.O.F. No. 24; Tr. Ex. 3** at ¶12.
- At no time prior to the Date of Condemnation did Ward, or anyone else on behalf of the County, state to the Landowner that the Property was under threat of condemnation, or that the County was considering taking the Property by the power of eminent domain. **S.O.F. No. 25; Tr. Ex. 3** at ¶13.

On September 15, 2022, Beaufort County filed its NOC and Lis Pendens. **S.O.F. No. 26; Tr. Ex. 1**. Additionally, on September 15, 2022, counsel for the County signed and filed the false affidavit stating that the amount tendered in the NOC, \$3,400,000, had been rejected by Landowner. **S.O.F. No. 27; Tr. Ex. 31**. Landowner first received the NOC and Lis Pendens on September 26, 2022, upon delivery to Foster via certified mail. **S.O.F. No. 28; Tr. Ex. 1**.

After the Date of Condemnation, and after this Challenge Action was filed, the County belatedly recognized that the Property was unsuitable for a ferry embarkation point — the stated purpose for the taking. In a November 15, 2022 email analyzing Ocean and Coastal Resource Management’s (“OCRM”) dock requirements for the subject Property and adjacent parcels, Hank Amundson (“Amundson”), the County’s Director of Special Projects, realized that establishing a ferry dock on the subject property might be unachievable, stating: “*I see property lines and problems everywhere I look. I fear this is impossible.*” **S.O.F. No. 31; Tr. Ex. 56** (emphasis

added). OCRM had denied a prior commercial dock permit application by Landowner for the Property, which the County would have discovered if it had followed the proper condemnation process. **Trial Tr.** at 49:10-52:2; **Tr. Ex. 3** at ¶14; **Aug. 9, 2023 Dep. of Anthony Martin, MAI,** at 26:9-27:19; **Tr. Ex. 41.**

Even after confronting the reality of the Property’s unsuitability for its intended purpose, the County commissioned updated appraisals, issued by both appraisers in late 2023 to reflect their estimated value of the Property as of the Date of Condemnation. Mr. Owen issued an updated appraisal report on December 1, 2023, estimating the value of the Property to be \$4,370,000, as of the Date of Condemnation. **S.O.F. No. 35; Tr. Ex. 35.** Mr. Martin issued an updated appraisal report on December 3, 2023, estimating the value of the Property to be \$3,700,000, as of the Date of Condemnation. **S.O.F. No. 36; Tr. Ex. 36.**

Because the County admittedly had “no project plans” as of the Date of Condemnation, and because the Property was unsuitable for a ferry embarkation site, the County scrambled to come up with a workable solution while simultaneously litigating its right to take the Property for a ferry embarkation site. Finally, more than a year after the Date of Condemnation, the County developed project plans (entitled “Daufuskie Ferry at Cross Island”) it deemed sufficient and submitted an application packet to the Town of Hilton Head on October 20, 2023 for Major Site Development Plan Review for the Daufuskie Ferry at Cross Island. **S.O.F. No. 37; Tr. Ex. 77.** Ultimately, the County decided that it would use the Property only for a parking lot and abandoned its stated purpose of developing a ferry embarkation point thereon.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COUNTY’S MULTIPLE FAILURES TO ADHERE TO THE EXCLUSIVE PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN THE SCEDPA INVALIDATED ITS ATTEMPTED CONDEMNATION

Landowner proved that the County failed to adhere to the “exclusive procedures” for

condemnation set forth in the SCEDPA in several respects. Some of these failures were so obvious that not even the County could deny them. Rather, the County deflected the consequences of its aberrant process by blaming the Landowner for wishing to keep its privately owned real property. The County also manufactured a “no harm to Landowner” standard found nowhere in the SCEDPA, which the trial court unfortunately accepted at face value without considering the judicial duty to apply the plain statutory language. In sum, Landowner met its burden of proof with respect to numerous violations, as specifically set forth, *infra*.

A. Sovereign Power of Eminent Domain.

From a historical perspective, the power of eminent domain is vested in the sovereign state. “The power of eminent domain is inherent in sovereignty. It is founded on the law of necessity.” *Riley v. S.C. State Highway Dep’t*, 118 S.E.2d 809, 810-811, 238 S.C. 19, 23-24 (1961) (citing *Paris Mountain Water Co. v. City of Greenville*, 110 S.C. 36, 96 S.E. 545 (1918)). Thus, the State of South Carolina’s **power** to condemn private property is limited only by state and federal constitutional protections. The state also has the ability to delegate this power to its agencies and lower forms of local government, such as the County. *Smith v. City of Greenville*, 229 S.C. 252, 92 S.E.2d 639 (1956).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that any grant of the power of eminent domain from the state to provincial bodies is derived solely through enabling legislation, and, critically, that local political subdivisions such as the County have a lesser degree of condemnation power than the state. “Eminent domain is an attribute of sovereignty. Because condemnation by a state agency is on behalf of the State, a state agency's power of eminent domain is superior to that of a political subdivision.” *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cnty.*, 368 S.C. 388, 398, 629 S.E.2d 624, 629 (2006) (citing *Riley*, 238 S.C. 19, 118 S.E.2d 809); *see also City of Abbeville v. Aiken*

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