RECEIVED

May 18 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Judge Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000615
Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-07-01978

Broad Creek Development, LLCAppellant,

v.

Beaufort CountyRespondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

RESNICK & LOUIS, P.C.

Christopher L. Murphy (S.C. Bar
No.14184) Wesley Southern (S.C.
Bar No. 105075) 146 Fairchild
Street, Suite 130
Daniel Island, SC 29492
843.371.1435
cmurphy@rlattorneys.com
wsouthern@rlattorneys.com

Attorneys for Respondent Beaufort County

May 18, 2026

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

ARGUMENT

I. IN SOUTH CAROLINA, A LANDOWNER MAY CHALLENGE THE “PUBLIC PURPOSE” OF ANY PROJECT AND WHETHER THE CONDEMNING AGENCY ACTED IN “BAD FAITH,” “FRAUDULENTLY,” OR “WITH CLEAR ABUSE OF DISCRETION” WHEN ACQUIRING THE PROPERTY.

The South Carolina Eminent Domain Act (“Eminent Domain Act”) provides two (2) separate and distinct legal procedures. The first being the underlying Condemnation which is the legal procedure for the condemning authority to acquire property. The second legal procedure allows the landowner to challenge the underlying Condemnation pursuant to S.C. Code § 28-2-470. Although limited, the law in South Carolina provides very simple and clear parameters for a landowner to bring a ‘challenge’ action pursuant to S.C. Code § 28-2-470.

First, the landowner can challenge the “public purpose” or “public use” aspect of the project under *Ga. DOT v. Jasper County*, 355 SC 631, 586 S.E.2d 853 (2003). Here, the Landowner can allege that the project violates the constitutional “public purpose” or “public use” requirement. In this case, Landowner exercised its right to challenge the "public purpose" or "public use" which the County will address.

In addition, S.C. Code § 28-2-470 allows the landowner to raise any other issues associated with the acquisition. However, the Eminent Domain Act does not provide the landowner a private cause of action. Thus, under South Carolina law, it appears that landowner must prove that the condemning authority acted with "bad faith," "fraudulently," or "with clear abuse of discretion" when addressing any issues. *Oien Family Invs., LLC v. Piedmont Mun. Power Agency*, 817 S.E.2d 647, 651 (App. Ct. 2018); *see also S. Dev. Land & Golf v. SC Pub. Serv. Auth.*, 226 S.E. 2d 748.

Landowner seems to agree with the existing law arguing the County must act in "good faith" when acquiring property under the South Carolina Eminent Domain Act. In this case, Landowner presented all its evidence, argued its position, and now simply disagrees with the fact finder. As explained, the trial court applied the proper standard and issued a ruling consistent with equity, the law, and evidence presented.

II. THE COUNTY DID NOT ACT IN “BAD FAITH,” “FRAUDULENTLY,” OR “WITH CLEAR ABUSE OF DISCRETION” WHEN ACQUIRING THE PROPERTY UNDER THE EMINENT DOMAIN ACT

Landowner argues a number of statutory violations which it alleges would invalidate the underlying Condemnation Action. Specifically, Landowner argues the County:

- 1) Concealed Appraisals, Violation of S.C. Code Ann. 28-2-70 (Landowner’s Initial Brief §I(D)(1));

- 2) Failed to Offer Appraised Value, Violation of S.C. Code Ann. §§ 28-2-220 and 28-2-230 (Landowner's Initial Brief §I(D)(2));
- 3) Filed a False Affidavit, Violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-240(1) (Landowner's Initial Brief §I(D)(3));
- 4) Failed to Make Plans Available for Inspection (Because No Plans Existed), Violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-280(C)(6), (Landowner's Initial Brief §I(D)(4));
- 5) Failed to Provide an Offer Based Upon the Statutory Date of Valuation, Violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-440 (Landowner's Initial Brief §I(D)(5)); and
- 6) Failed to Provide Landowner with Reasonable Notice Prior to Entering Property, Violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-70(C) (Landowner's Initial Brief §I(D)(6)).

Landowner argues strict compliance with the Eminent Domain Act and that any conflict automatically invalidates the underlying Condemnation. To support this argument, landowner cites S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-60 which states, “[t]he provisions of this chapter shall constitute the exclusive procedure whereby Condemnation may be undertaken in this State,” and cites case law from other jurisdictions. Landowner seems to argue that any single violation of the ‘acquisition process’ would automatically invalidate the underlying Condemnation. In support of this notion, Landowner cites S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-70(B) which states;

The condemnor and landowner shall make reasonable and diligent efforts to negotiate an agreement upon the amount of compensation to be paid. The condemnor shall certify to the court that a negotiated resolution of the conflict was attempted prior to the institution of the condemnation action. A failure of any party to comply with this subsection is not a defense to a condemnation action.

Landowner wants this Court to draw a negative inference from S.C. Code Ann. § 28-2-70(B), arguing that because this subsection explicitly states that a failure to negotiate "is not a defense to a condemnation action," but fails to explain the inverse reading of the statute — that any other violation would create a defense to condemnation. Rather than implying that all other

statutory violations automatically invalidate a condemnation, S.C. Code § 28-2-70(B) serves as a specific legislative exception to the general principle that minor procedural irregularities, absent bad faith, fraud, or clear abuse of discretion, do not automatically halt or invalidate a condemnation action. This specific exception demonstrates the legislature's intent that a procedural non-compliance will not serve as a defense. Conversely, the absence of such explicit "invalidation" language for other sections of the Eminent Domain Act does not mean that every other procedural misstep automatically creates a defense. Instead, it means that the general standard for challenging the right to condemn requires a showing of "bad faith," "fraud," or "clear abuse of discretion" as established by the *Oien* court. *Oien*, 817 S.E.2d 647, 651 (App. Ct. 2018) and *S. Dev. Land & Golf v. SC Pub. Serv. Auth.*, 311 SC 29, 226 S.E.2d 748 (1993). In *Oien*, the Court established a showing of "bad faith," "fraud," or "clear abuse of discretion" as the standard for invalidating a condemnation based on alleged improprieties by condemning authorities. This high standard protects the public interest and prevents landowners from derailing public projects due to technical non-compliance that fails to cause actual prejudice, damage or deprivation of any rights. The explicit language of S.C. Code §28-2-70(B) clarifies that even a failure to negotiate, which might otherwise be argued as a statutory violation, does not rise to the level of an automatic defense.

a. The South Carolina Eminent Domain Act Does Not Create a Private Cause of Action for Landowners.

Strictly speaking, the South Carolina Eminent Domain Act does not state, "[a]ny violation of this section invalidates an underlying condemnation action." S.C. Code § 28-2-10 et seq.

Furthermore, no South Carolina case law asserts that premise. Landowner argues that strict compliance invalidates a condemnation, but at the same time asks this Court to apply a standard that does not exist via the statute.

For guidance, this Court can look at The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act 42 U.S.C § 4601. The purpose of this federal act uniform policy of real property acquisition practices is, “to ensure that owners of real property to be acquired for federal and federally assisted projects are treated fairly and consistently . . .”

The Court in *Barnhart v. Brinegar* specifically addressed violations of the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act as a cause of action. *Barnhart v. Brinegar*, 362 F.Supp. 464 (USDC W.D. Missouri 1973). In *Barnhart*, the landowner sought to stop the government's condemnation of their property based on violations of the Federal Act. *Id.* The Government moved to dismiss the challenge action based on the Act itself. Specifically, 42 USC §4602(a) which states, “[t]he provisions of section 301 of title III of this Act [42 USCS § 4651] create no rights or liabilities and shall not affect the validity of any property acquisitions by purchase or condemnation.”

The *Barnhart* court dismissed the challenge action after a lengthy analysis of the history of the Act and reviewing four cases which each found that §301 does not create rights in favor of property owners. *Nall Motors, Inc. v. City of Iowa City*, Civil No. 72-47-D (S.D. Iowa, Jan. 2, 1973) (*not reported*); *Martinez v. Department of Housing and Urban Development*, 347 F. Supp. 903 (E.D. Pa. 1972); *Rubin v. Department of Housing and Urban Development*, 347 F. Supp. 555 (E.D. Pa. 1972); *Will-Tex Plastics Mfg., Inc. v. Department of Housing and Urban Development*, 346 F. Supp. 654 (E.D. Pa. 1972).

Because a statutory violation of the Federal Acquisition Act does not invalidate a condemnation, it makes sense that a violation of the S.C. Eminent Domain Act does not invalidate a condemnation action. Instead, it makes more sense that this Court should determine if the County acted with "bad faith," "fraudulently," or "with clear abuse of discretion" when

addressing any statutory violation. *Oien Family Invs., LLC*, 817 S.E.2d, at 651; *see also S. Dev. Land & Golf v. SC Pub. Serv. Auth.*, 226 S.E. 2d, at 748.

b. The Court Must Apply Equitable Principles to the Parties in Equitable Actions.

Despite admitting that the Court should consider ‘Challenge Actions’ as ones in equity, landowner also asks the Court to ignore equitable principles when ruling on the matter.

(Landowner’s Initial Brief at p. 20). It appears that Landowner argues that “equitable principles do not apply in equitable matters,” but fails to cite any authority to support this theory. In fact, case law holds the opposite. *Regions Bank v. Wingard Props., Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 247, 715 S.E.2d 348, 351 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Equitable maxims are not binding legal precedent but represent notions and concepts of equity in various situations. The court views maxims only as offers of guidance in equitable cases”). The court in *Regions* explained:

The principle "equity regards as done that which ought to be done" applies in cases where the party seeking equitable relief establishes a clear obligation based upon a valuable consideration that another do some act which he has failed to perform. The notion "equity looks to substance rather than form" evolved out of judicial regard for that which ought to be done. This maxim applies by dispensing with pure formalities which would otherwise defeat the equity. When applying this principle, courts look to the substance and intent of the parties, and give a construction consistent with such intent. After a party establishes an equitable right, the court may dispense with pure formalities which would otherwise defeat the equity. A court of equity should scrutinize the conduct of the plaintiff with the utmost care, to ascertain he has done everything which ought to have been done to secure the action requested. This maxim has at times guided a court to relieve a party from the consequences of accident, mistake, and fraud. The rule that equity considers as done that which should be done cannot be invoked to create a right contrary to the agreement of the parties.

Regions Bank v. Wingard Props., Inc., 715 S.E.2d 348, at 351.

Landowner takes this argument a step further arguing that any equitable principles only apply to the Landowner and not the County. (Landowner's Initial Brief at p. 21). Again, Landowner does not cite any case law that supports the theory that ‘equitable’ standards apply to

one party in a case and not another party. Finally, Landowner argues the trial court failed to “balance the equity” in its favor. Regardless of Landowner’s position, logic dictates that equitable matters require the courts to apply the same equitable principles to all of the parties. The trial court correctly applied equitable maxims, stating:

Since challenge actions are inherently equitable, the Court must apply equitable principles when addressing statutory violations. This includes the equitable maxim that emphasizes substance over form while examining the Landowner’s procedural claims. The notion "equity looks to substance rather than form" evolved out of judicial regard for that which ought to be done. *Wilkie v. Phila. Life Ins. Co.*, 187 S.C. 382, 393-94, 197 S.E. 375, 380 (1938); *see also Regions Bank v. Wingard Props, Inc.*, 394 SC 241, 715 S.E.2d 348 (Ct. App. 2011). This maxim applies by "dispensing with pure formalities which would otherwise defeat the equity." *Id.*; *see also Kerr v. City of Columbia*, 232 S.C. 405, 410, 102 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1958); *see also Regions Bank*, 715 S.E.2d 348. When applying this principle, courts examine the substance and intent of the parties, ensuring a construction that is consistent with that intent. *Harpending v. Reformed Protestant Dutch Church of City of N.Y.*, 41 U.S. 455, 480, 10 L. Ed. 1029 (1842). Once a party establishes an equitable right, the court may set aside strict formalities that would otherwise undermine the equity.

Wilkie, 197 S.E. at 380.

In this case, Landowner alleges that the County failed to follow the pre-filing requirements of the South Carolina Eminent Domain Act. The trial court applied equitable principles to determine the alleged pre-filing violations did not injure, prejudice or deprive the landowner of any right. In fact, all of the evidence indicates that following the requirements would not accomplish anything since landowner refused to engage with the County and candidly testified, he would not sell his property to the County.

Question: And in terms of contact or filing the condemnation, you've been through, you were trying to contact the landowner.

Ward: Repeatedly.

Question: And did you get anywhere in terms of negotiations?

Ward: No.

Question: Did you ever get any type of counter offer back?

Ward: None. (R. p. 1839, line 20 – p. 1840 line 4).

Landowner: Well, we weren't really interested in selling, obviously. (R. p. 1948, lines 5-8).

Landowner: I had no interest in selling it voluntarily for \$3.4 million or \$3.2 million. I wasn't interested in selling . . . (R. p. 1952, lines 19-21).

Landowner: . . . I didn't want to sell the property. . . (R. p. 1956, lines 14-15).

Landowner: So, of course, I don't want to get rid of it. I mean, we bought it. We held it for a reason. I litigated with the DOT for a reason. You know, it wasn't because I like to pay attorneys. It's because we wanted the property. (R. p. 1965, lines 13-17).

Landowner refused to engage, made it clear he would not sell the property, and now argues the County did not follow the pre-filing requirements after admitting the futility of the process.

In other words, Landowner did not suffer any damage, prejudice or loss of right. The principal element in any lawsuit is some form of damage and although damage comes in all forms, Landowner did not present any damage or any form of prejudice in this case. *Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland Cty.*, 394 S.C. 154, 170, 714 S.E.2d 869, 877 (2011) ("A landowner has the burden of proving damages for the taking of the landowner's property, whether through condemnation proceedings or by inverse condemnation"); (*Kiriakides v. Sch. Dist.*, 382 S.C. 8, 14, 675 S.E.2d 439, 442 (2009)) ("Not all damages that are suffered by a private property owner at the hands of the governmental agency are compensable.") *Id.*; ("The property itself must suffer some diminution in substance, or it must be rendered intrinsically less valuable.") *Id.*

Landowner seems to concede it did not suffer and damage, harm, prejudice, and asks the Court to ignore this basic element of any lawsuit. (Landowner's Initial Brief at p. 22).

c. South Carolina Law Provides the Landowner a Statutory Remedy in the Event of Violations.

Although not specifically stated, it is logical that the 'Challenge Action' under S.C. Code § 28-2-470 provides Landowner a legal vehicle to assert statutory violations by a condemning authority. However, when doing so, the Court must determine if those violations constitute harm, damages, prejudice or if the County acted in "bad faith," "fraudulently," or "with clear abuse of discretion." *Oien Family Invs., LLC*, 817 S.E.2d 647, at 651 & S.C. Code § 28-2-470.

1) The County Did Not Conceal Appraisals in Violation of S.C. Code Ann. §28-2-70.

Landowner alleges some malicious intent by the County to conceal the appraisals in this matter, but fails to explain any loss of rights, prejudice, or damage as a result. Regardless, the trial court disagreed. The Court can start with the testimony of County Attorney, Brittany Ward, who testified about her attempts to contact the Landowner and negotiate with him:

Question: And in terms of contact or filing the condemnation, you've been through, you were trying to contact the landowner.

Ward: Repeatedly.

Question: And did you get anywhere in terms of negotiations?

Ward: No.

Question: Did you ever get any type of counter offer back?

Ward: None.

Question: In dealing with [landowner], were you trying to hide anything from him?

Ward: No.

Question: Were you trying to act with any type of fraudulent intent or ill will?

Ward: None.

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